# NO. 90507-0

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 69830-3-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF GARY FILION, by and through Lester Filion as personal representative,

Respondent,

v.



JULIE JOHNSON,

Petitioner.

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Julie Johnson asks this court to accept review of the Court of

Appeals decisions terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Johnson asks this court to review the following parts of the decision filed May 12, 2014:

- (1) The conclusion that the trial court properly denied Johnson's motion for summary judgment and properly ordered that Johnson is precluded from raising the anti-SLAPP [RCW 4.24.510, not RCW 4.24.525] defense at the trial-de novo.
- (2) The conclusion that Johnson waived her defense of absolute immunity under RCW 4.24.510 by failing to assert the defense in a document labelled "answer";
- (3) The conclusion that Johnson's assertion of the RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense was dilatory;
- (4) The unstated conclusion that Filion was surprised or prejudiced by the manner in which Johnson asserted the RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense;
- (5) The denial of Johnson's timely motion for reconsideration.

A copy of the May 12, 2014, decision is in the Appendix at pages A-3 through A-10.

A copy of the June 6, 2014, order denying Johnson's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-2.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- based upon a protected party's communications with law enforcement, i.e. Johnson's call to 911 and her report to the responding deputy sheriff in which she reported that plaintiff committed a restraining order violation, does the complaint fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted?
- (2) Where a pro se defendant's answer pleads the defense that "Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against defendant on which relief may be granted", has the answer sufficiently informed plaintiff of the nature of the defense of immunity under RCW 4.24.510?
- (3) Where defendant raised the RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense as a CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss which is heard and fully addressed by both parties as a motion for summary judgment, and is denied by the trial court, must defendant amend her pleadings to state the defense in a document labelled "answer" in order to preserve the defense in the case?
- (4) Where the RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense is actually tried in mandatory arbitration, and defendant prevails on the basis of that

defense in arbitration, is the defense preserved as having been "tried with the parties' express or implied consent". *Henderson v. Tyrrell*, 80 Wn. App. 592, 624, 910 P.2d 522 (1996)

(5) Where both parties have briefed and argued the defendant's RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense multiple times on the record before trial, and on defendant's prior appeal in Court of Appeals Division One case no. 63978-1-I, and in the subsequent mandatory arbitration hearing, and in the proceedings on the second motion for summary judgment, and the plaintiff is undeniably and admittedly fully informed of the factual and legal basis of the defense, may the trial court none-the-less bar defendant from asserting and relying upon the defense at trial de-novo?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

The marriage between Gary Filion and Julie Johnson was dissolved by decree entered June 1, 2006, in Snohomish County Superior Court. The decree contains an order that restrains each party from:

"going onto the grounds of or entering the home, work place or school of the other party"

"knowingly coming within or knowingly remaining within 500 feet of the home, work place or school of the other party, or the day care or school of these children listed above."

(CP 217 l. 18 to CP 218 l. 16; Appendix pp. 65 – 66)

In addition to the restraining order, the decree provided that Filion was to retrieve certain personal property items from Johnson's residence within 30 days of entry of the Decree. (CP 28 & 29; CP 212 & 213)

Johnson's residence had been sold. The buyers were to have possession by 9:00 p.m. on August 1, 2006. (CP 200 - 201) Johnson's packing to move took longer than anticipated. The parties' realtor spoke with Johnson that morning and was informed that Johnson would not be moved out before 9:00 p.m. that evening. (CP 198, 1.6 - 8)

The realtor visited Johnson's residence at 1:00 p.m. on August 1 to see how things were going and found that "It was obvious that Johnson would need all the time prior to her 9:00 p.m. deadline to finish packing and moving." (CP 198, l. 8 – 10)

The realtor phoned Filion and told him that Johnson would not be out of the house until 9:00 p.m. that evening. Filion told the realtor that he was going to the house at 4:00 pm with a truck to pick up furniture & personal belongings. (CP 198, l. 14 - 17)

The realtor phoned Johnson and told her that Filion said he was coming over to pick some things up. Johnson told the realtor, "He better not or I'll call the cops." (CP 198, l. 18 – 19)

Filion called the realtor again and asked if she had told Johnson he was coming over. The realtor told him, "Yes, I did". Filion asked, "What

did she say?" The realtor told him that Johnson had said, "He better not!" and that "the house is a mess and it will be a small miracle if Julie completes her move by the 9:00 p.m. deadline." (CP 198, 1. 20, to CP 199, 1. 1)

Despite the restraining order, and despite having been informed that Johnson and her children would still be at the residence until 9:00 p.m., Filion came to the door of Johnson's home at 4:00 p.m. August 1, 2006. Through the kitchen window, Johnson saw him approach. She saw a moving truck come up her driveway. It stopped near the garage door. She saw Filion get out of the truck. Johnson had a panic attack and took a Xanax. Filion came to the front door, knocked, and rang the doorbell. Johnson called 911. Filion was told by one of Johnson's helpers that he should not be there and the police are on their way. (CP 102 – 107, at  $\P$  5 – 6) (CP 185) Filion left the premises and was gone before the deputy sheriff arrived. (CP 190 -191, at  $\P$  4).

A King County Deputy Sheriff arrived shortly, took a statement from Johnson, and completed an Incident Report dated August 1, 2006, (CP 226 – 230)

On August 16, 2006, the prosecuting attorney for the City of Shoreline, King County, Washington, filed a complaint in King County District Court charging Filion with willfully violating the terms of a

restraining order in violation of RCW 26.50.110. (CP 206)

On August 16, 2006, the district court clerk issued a Summons/Subpoena/Notice for Filion to appear for arraignment on August 28, 2006 at 8:45 AM. (CP 204) Filion appeared and entered a plea of "Not Guilty". (CP 234) The criminal case was dismissed on October 12, 2006. (CP 236)

On February 21, 2007, Filion filed this action in King County Superior Court, case no. 07-2-06353-6 SEA against Johnson and her dissolution lawyer Mark Olson. The complaint seeks civil money damages from Johnson based on her August 1, 2006 call to 911 and her report to the responding deputy sheriff. (CP 3 – 4; Appendix pp. 42 – 43)

Johnson's pro se answer filed May 16, 2007 (CP 8 to 10; Appendix pp. 47 - 49) denies Filion's claims and asserts affirmative defenses, including:

2. Failure to State a Claim on Which Relief Can Be Granted. Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against defendant Julie Johnson on which relief may be granted." (CP 9, l. 21 – 23) (App. p. 48) and the prayer of her answer requests that plaintiff's claims be dismissed with prejudice, that the court enter judgment in Johnson's favor, that plaintiff be awarded nothing, for her costs and disbursements, for her reasonable and actual attorney's fees, and for such other and further relief as the court deems just and equitable. (CP 10, l. 11 – 22; Appendix p. 49)

The Court of Appeals opinion states that "Johnson engaged in trial preparation without demonstrating any intent to pursue the defense." (2<sup>nd</sup> full paragraph at p. 6 of May 12, 2014, unpublished opinion) This statement misconstrues the trial court record.

Filion filed his original complaint on February 21, 2007. (CP 4; Appendix p. 42). It names the following persons as defendants:

JULIE JOHNSON and MARK OLSON and JANE DOE OLSON, husband and wife, and their marital community.

Filion filed an Amended Complaint on April 9, 2007. (CP 5; Appendix p. 44)

Johnson filed her *pro se* answer on May 16, 2007. (CP 8; Appendix p. 47)

Filion filed a Second Amended Complaint, without leave of court, on August 15, 2007 (CP 11; Appendix p. 50). His Second Amended Complaint no longer lists MARK OLSON and JANE DOE OLSON, husband and wife, and their marital community, as defendants. Rather, their names are replaced in the caption by OLSON and OLSON PLLC, a legal services corporation as defendant in their place. (CP 11; Appendix 50)

Attorney Mark Olson d/b/a OLSON and OLSON PLLC was Johnson's lawyer in the Filion/Johnson dissolution of marriage case.

Filion's claims against Olson were dismissed by order entered February 8, 2008. (See p. 8 of Appendix to Appellant's Opening Brief filed in the Court of Appeals). All activity in the case through February 2008 was between Filion and Olson. During that time, the only activity involving Johnson was the filing of her *pro se* answer on May 16, 2007. (CP 8)

There was minimal "trial preparation" activity involving Filion and Johnson prior to the filing of Johnson's October 24, 2008 CR 12(b)(6)

Motion to Dismiss. (CP 42 – 44; Appendix 58 – 66). The Court of Appeals opinion cites the parties had "demonstrated the ability and intent to litigate":

Joint Confirmation Regarding Trial Readiness filed July 14, 2008. (CP 632; Appendix p. 53); and

Plaintiff's Jury Demand filed July 17, 2008. (CP 716; Appendix p. 55)

Rather than proceed to trial in superior court, the parties stipulated to transfer the case to mandatory arbitration. The case was transferred to mandatory arbitration on July 24, 2008. (CP 634; Appendix p. 56)

On October 24, 2008, Johnson filed her MOTION TO DISMISS

UNDER CR 12(b)(6), FOR CR 11 SANCTIONS, AND FOR COSTS,

ATTORNEY FEES, AND STATUTORY DAMAGES, raising her

defense of absolute unqualified statutory immunity and requesting an

award of her expenses, reasonable attorney fees, and statutory damages of

\$10,000.00 under RCW 4.24.510. (CP 36 to 63); at Appendix pp. 58 – 66 without all the attachments)

On October 29, 2008, the trial court ordered that Johnson's CR 12(b)(6) motion be heard as a motion for summary judgment under CR 56. (CP 73; Appendix p. 67) The summary judgment hearing was held on November 21, 2008, before the Honorable Douglas McBroom, who retired shortly after. The court entered an order that states in whole as follows:

"This Court, having heard a motion to dismiss pursuant to (12)(b)(6)

"IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the motion is denied." "DATED this 21st day of November, 2008.

"Honorable Douglas D. McBroom"

(CP 108 - 109; Appendix p. 79)

The case was referred to arbitration under the Superior Court Mandatory Arbitration Rules. Johnson's arbitration brief is devoted to her defense of immunity and claim for an award of expenses, reasonable attorney fees, and statutory damages under RCW 4.24.510. (CP 704 – 708; Appendix pp. 80 - 84) The parties attended a one-day arbitration hearing.

The arbitrator's award was filed on March 4, 2009. Though not a model of clarity, the award finds for Johnson on the basis of immunity under RCW 4.24.510, the sole basis which Johnson asserted for dismissal of Filion's claims and for an award of expenses, attorney fees, and statutory damages. There is no other legal basis upon which a claim for

statutory damages could have been asserted by Johnson in this case. Thus, it is patently obvious on the face of the arbitrator's award that the finding for Johnson is based on her RCW 4.24.510 claim of statutory immunity. (CP 110 - 111; Appendix pp. 85 - 86)

Johnson filed and served a REQUEST FOR TRIAL DE NOVO AND FOR CLERK TO SEAL ARBITRATION AWARD on April 2, 2009, together with payment of the \$250.00 trial de novo filing fee. (CP 122 – 123; Appendix p. 88)

Filion then changed lawyers and filed a MOTION TO DISMISS ALL CLAIMS on May 11, 2009 (CP 675 – 679) supported by two declarations of counsel. (CP 680 – 697) Johnson responded on May 15, 2009, again asserting her claim of immunity and for an award of expenses, attorney fees, and statutory damages under RCW 4.24.510. (CP 698 – 703) Filion filed a declaration of counsel (CP 713 – 730) and a memorandum in reply (CP 731 – 742). Johnson replied, again discussing the RCW 4.24.510 defense in detail. (CP 743 – 750) The motion to dismiss was denied. (CP 119 – 121) On May 19, 2009, Filion filed a second CR 41(a) MOTION FOR DISMISSAL OF ALL CLAIMS BEFORE RESTING. (CP 124 - 129) An order dismissing the case was entered. (CP 130 - 131)

On Johnson's appeal from the order of dismissal, the Court of

Appeals reversed. Unpublished opinion filed November 22, 2010, in Court of Appeals, Division One, case no. 62978-1-I. (CP 136 – 139; Appendix pp. 99 – 102) Filion's petition for review. Review was denied. The Mandate was filed in King County Superior Court on January 3, 2012. (CP 135; Appendix p. 98)

The case was set for trial.

The parties' motions for summary judgment filed in October 2012 were heard on November 2, 2012, by Honorable Sharon S. Armstrong, Judge, King County Superior Court. (VRP 11/02/2012)

Filion's motion was denied by order dated November 5, 2012. (CP 338-340)

Johnson's motion was denied by order filed on November 7, 2012. (CP 341 – 348; Appendix 18 -15)

The parties appeared for trial before the Honorable Michael J. Hayden, Judge, King County Superior Court, on December 19, 2012. Counsel and the court engaged in colloquy and, rather than proceed to trial, the parties agreed to entry of a STIPULATED JUDGMENT which preserves for appeal Johnson's argument that her defense of immunity and claims under RCW 4.24.510 were erroneously denied and barred by the trial court. (CP 449 -454; Appendix pp. 12 - 17)

The judgment provides, among other things, that:

"For purposes of preserving her argument on appeal and making a record, the Parties agree that the Defendant did in fact again assert her anti-slapp defense to the trial Court before the jury trial was to begin on December 19, 2012, but the Court, in reliance on Judge Armstrong's prior ruling (which precluded the Defendant's attempt to raise the anti-slapp statute (RCW 4.24.510)), also precluded and barred the Defendant from raising the 4.24.510 immunity defense at trial." (CP 452, l. 8 – 14)

# 5) Also added below. (CP 453, 1. 20)

"# 5) This stipulation and judgment is not intended to be construed to prejudice or preclude Defendant's rights to appeal the denial of her claim for the defense of RCW 4.24.510 (immunity/anti-slapp)" (CP 454, l. 10 - 17)

Johnson appealed on January 18, 2013. (CP 609 - 624) See Court of Appeals unpublished decision filed May 12, 2014. (Appendix 3 - 10)

Johnson timely filed a motion for reconsideration. The order denying reconsideration was filed June 6, 2014. (Appendix p. 2)

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be accepted because:

- 1. The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals; and
- 2. The petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, i.e. whether a person protected by a restraining order who communicates a restraining order violation to 911 and the responding officer, is immune under RCW 4.24.510 from civil claims for money damages and has the right to recover expenses, attorney fees, and statutory damages under the circumstances of this case where the protected person is sued based solely upon the

content of her report to law enforcement of the restraining order violation.

The standard of review in this matter is de novo. The trial court's decision turns on a substantive issue of law. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 283 P.3d 567, 169 Wn.App. 588 (2012)

The purpose of the immunity granted by RCW 4.24.510 is to prevent the filing of a lawsuit in the first place. Regarding claims of qualified immunity, our courts have held that:

"It is particularly important that good faith (or its absence) in a qualified immunity situation be determined promptly ... a prompt determination is vital because qualified immunity is not simply a defense to liability but a protection from suit." *Dutton v. Washington Physicians Health Program, 87 Wash.App.* 614, 622-23, 943 P.2d 298 (1997).

The principle stated in *Dutton*, supra, certainly applies in a case such as this where the RCW 4.24.510 statutory grant of immunity is absolute and unqualified.

RCW 4.24.500 explicitly recognizes that "The costs of defending against such suits can be severely burdensome." Johnson's repeated requests for dismissal based on RCW 4.24.510 were denied by the trial court. As a result, both sides continued to incur substantial attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses in this matter.

Filion should not have filed this lawsuit in the first place. When

Johnson first asserted her RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense, Filion should have recognized that his claims are barred and taken this case no further.

The superior court's order denying Johnson's motion for summary judgment states

"However, because trial is imminent, the court takes this opportunity to discuss whether RCW 4.24.510, Washington's Anti-SLAPP statute, applies to these facts at all."

$$(CP 342 1. 9 - 12)$$

"\* \* \* the content of defendant's call to police concerned a private matter: her attempt to keep the husband off her property so she could complete her packing. The expression was made privately, in a call to police, not in a public statement. And the purpose of the speech served her private concern to keep the husband off her property, not a public discussion."

$$(CP 347 1. 17 - 22)$$

"This court concludes that the conduct of the defendant here is not within the scope of RCW 4.24.510."

$$(CP 348 1.5 - 6)$$

The Court of Appeals stated basis for affirming the trial court is that Johnson had not timely or properly asserted her RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense. However, the established case law on this issue is in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decisions in this case.

Johnson is entitled to protection of immunity established by RCW 4.24.510 in this case.

RCW 4.24.500 provides that:

"Information provided by citizens concerning potential wrongdoing is vital to effective law enforcement and the efficient operation of government. The legislature finds that the threat of a civil action for damages can act as a deterrent to citizens who wish to report information to federal, state, or local agencies. The costs of defending against such suits can be severely burdensome. The purpose of RCW 4.24.500 through 4.24.520 is to protect individuals who make good-faith reports to appropriate governmental bodies."

#### RCW 4.24.510 provides that:

"A person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state, or local government, or to any self-regulatory organization that regulates persons involved in the securities or futures business and that has been delegated authority by a federal, state, or local government agency and is subject to oversight by the delegating agency, is immune from civil liability for claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization. A person prevailing upon the defense provided for in this section is entitled to recover expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in establishing the defense and in addition shall receive statutory damages of ten thousand dollars. Statutory damages may be denied if the court finds that the complaint or information was communicated in bad faith."

The 2002 statutory amendments to RCW 4.24.510 removed the "good faith" element and made the grant of immunity under RCW 4.24.510 absolute and unqualified. There is no issue of "good faith" on the question whether Johnson is protected by immunity under RCW 4.24.510. Immunity under RCW 4.24.510 is not qualified or conditioned

upon considerations of whether the communication to the government agency by the target of the lawsuit was made in good faith. *Bailey v. State*, 147 Wn.App. 251, 260-63, 191 P.3d 1285 (2008).

Although RCW 4.24.500 references protection for "good faith" reports, as explained in *Bailey*, intent statements do not control over the express language of an otherwise unambiguous statute. 147 Wn. App. at 262-63. The legislative decision to remove a good faith reporting requirement from RCW 4.24.510 cannot be undone by its failure to similarly amend the intent section. Id. See also *Lowe v. Rowe*, 294 P.3d 6 (Decided 12/06/2012; Ct of App Div 3 case no. 30282-2; Publication Ordered Jan. 31, 2013)

For RCW 4.24.510 immunity to apply, Johnson only needed to establish that she communicated to law enforcement concerning a matter within its responsibility. She so established. Filion admits that Johnson so established. The trial court erred in concluding that the RCW 4.24.510 statutory immunity does not apply to Johnson's August 1, 2006 call to 911 and report to the responding law enforcement officer.

This court has held that RCW 4.24.510 immunity applies to communications with the police and law enforcement. *Dang v. Ehredt*, 95. Wn. App. 670, 977 P.2d 29, review denied. 139 Wn.2d 1012 (1999) (bank employees called 911 to report what they mistakenly believed was a

counterfeit check); to communications with officials of a land development division and county executive. *Gilman v. MacDonald*, 74 Wn. App. 733, 875 P.2d 697, review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1010 (1994); and to communications with judicial offices such as Superior Court Administration. *Kauzlarich v. Yarbrough*, 105 Wn. App. 632, 20 P.3d 946 (2001).

The facts of this case are similar to *Dang v. Ehredt*, supra. In *Dang* a bank, through its employees, called 911 to report that *Dang* was attempting to pass a counterfeit check. The police came to the bank and arrested *Dang*, who later sued the bank and its employees among others for damages. When it was later determined that the check was valid and not counterfeit, *Dang* was released and the charges were dismissed. The *Dang* court held that the bank and its employees, who did nothing to restrain or otherwise imprison Ms. Dang other than call and make a report to 911, are entitled to immunity from liability for their actions under RCW 4.24.510.

An affirmative defense raised in a CR 12(b) motion is not waived by failing to plead it in a document labeled "answer". Civil Rule (CR) 8(c) requires responsive pleadings to set forth "any ... matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense," including statutes of limitation.

Affirmative defenses are waived unless they are (1) affirmatively pleaded,

(2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the parties' express or implied consent. *In re Estate of Palmer*, 187 P.3d 758, 145 Wn.App. 249, 258 (Wash.App. Div. 2 2008); *Harting v. Barton*, 101 Wash.App. 954, 962, 6 P.3d 91 (2000).

In *Henderson v. Tyrrell*, 910 P.2d 522, 80 Wn.App. 592 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1996) this court explained that

"Generally, affirmative defenses are waived unless they are (1) affirmatively pleaded, (2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the express or implied consent of the parties." Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Coop., 68 Wash.App. 427, 433-34, 842 P.2d 1047 (1993). However, in light of the rule's policy to avoid surprise, affirmative pleading sometimes is not required:

"It is to avoid surprise that certain defenses are required by CR 8(c) to be pleaded affirmatively. In light of that policy, federal courts have determined that the affirmative defense requirement is not absolute. Where a failure to plead a defense affirmatively does not affect the substantial rights of the parties, the noncompliance will be considered harmless. Tillman v. National City Bank, 118 F.2d 631, 635 (2d Cir.1941) [cert. Denied, 314 U.S. 650, 62 S.Ct. 96, 86 L.Ed. 521 (1941)]. Also, objection to a failure to comply with the rule is waived where there is written and oral argument to the court without objection on the legal issues raised in connection with the defense. Joyce v. L.P. Steuart, Inc., 227 F.2d 407 (D.C.Cir.1955). There is a need for such flexibility in procedural rules. In the present case, the record shows that a substantial portion of [910 P.2d 541] plaintiff's trial memorandum and the entire substance of the hearing on summary judgment concerned the effect of the liquidated damages clause. To conclude that defendants are precluded from relying upon that clause as a defense would be to impose a rigid and technical formality upon pleadings

which is both unnecessary and contrary to the policy underlying CR 8(c), and we refuse to reach such a result. (Emphasis in **bold** added)

Even where an affirmative defense is not "(1) affirmatively pleaded, (2) asserted in a motion under CR 12(b), or (3) tried by the express or implied consent of the parties", the defense is not waived. "[I]f the substantial rights of a party have not been affected, noncompliance is considered harmless and the defense is not waived." See *Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Co-op., Inc.*, 842 P.2d 1047, 68 Wn.App. 427 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1993) where the appellate court ruled that the affirmative defense of failure to mitigate was not waived though not affirmatively pleaded nor asserted in a motion under CR 12(b) because the parties had argued mitigation and the trial court ruled on it. Thus, the defense of mitigation was treated as if raised in the pleadings.

Johnson's failure to plead the RCW 4.24.510 defense in a document labelled "answer' clearly did not affect any substantial right of the plaintiff Filion. As shown by the record, Filion was neither surprised nor prejudiced. He briefed and argued the merits of the defense on Johnson's CR 12(b)(6) motion in 2008. It was the deciding element in the 2009 mandatory arbitration hearing. Filion addressed it in detail on his 2009 motions to dismiss all claims, on the prior appeal in this case, and in his papers for the summary judgment proceedings in 2012.

The mandatory arbitration hearing is the trial on the merits and the trial de novo is an appeal from the arbitrator's decision. *Singer v. Etherington,* 57 Wn.App. 542, 789 P.2d 108 (1990); *Valley v. Hand,* 38 Wash.App. 170, 684 P.2d 1341, review denied, 103 Wash.2d 1006 (1984) The RCW 4.24.510 immunity defense was tried on the merits at the mandatory arbitration hearing. How then could the superior court properly bar Johnson from relying upon that defense at the trial de novo?

The state of Washington has a strong policy of protecting parties from domestic violence and from violations of restraining orders issued in dissolution and domestic violence cases. See RCW 26.50.110; RCW Chapter 10.99; *State v. Bunker*, 169 Wn.2d 571, 238 P.3d 487 (2010).