NO. 90507-0

Court Of Appeals No. 69830-3-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIE JOHNSON Petitioner

v

ESTATE OF GARY FILION Respondent.

Received State Supreme Court

Ronald R. Carpenter

ANSWER TO THE:

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By Estate of Gary Filion

Noah Davis WSBA#30939 Attorney for Estate of Gary Filion In Pacta PLLC 801 2nd Ave Ste 307 Seattle WA 98104 206.709.8281

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

4. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals got it right. Johnson was precluded from

asserting her purported anti-SLAPP defense because she had twice plead

but failed to preserve that defense (in either her original or her amended

Answer) and never moved to amend her Answer to include it. She had also

failed to move in a CR 12 motion prior to filing her answer.

And now, there is simply no basis for accepting review of this

decision since:

a. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any

Supreme Court precedent (RAP 13.4(b)(1));

b. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any other

decision of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2));

c. There is no significant question of law under the US or

Washington constitutions (RAP 13.4(b)(3));

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

(ESTATE OF FILION v. JOHNSON)

on November 14, 2012 (CP 355-365) which required an Answer from the

IN PACTA PLLC

d. And while the Petition does attempt to assert that an issue of substantial public interest is involved that should be resolved by the Supreme Court, there is no public interest through amicus briefs and even if there was, the Court of Appeals didn't reach (because it didn't need to reach) the applicability of the anti-SLAPP defense. Thus, this is simply not the right case to address the wrongful and overbroad assertions of anti-SLAPP.

Johnson is incorrect in asserting that the law has been changed (or not followed) by the Court of Appeals. That is not the case. What was involved in this case was a defense that was not pleaded but which called for affirmative relief (statutory penalty and attorney's fees). Under the laws at the time (and statute at the time), the anti-SLAPP defense had to be pleaded or tried by agreement. ⁹ Neither occurred here. That is the

Estate of Filion before it was abandoned.

⁹ Johnson's argument is that she raised it in her briefing. But that is exactly what the long standing rules of notice pleading seek to prevent! Getting improperly or un-pleaded claims in through surprise without the express agreement of the Parties (or without objection, here there is objection). If Johnson wanted to assert her claim, she needed to pleaded it, and she failed to. In addition, Johnson states that her claim was tried in arbitration (Johnson Br. Pg. 5-6), but there is no such ruling by the Arbitrator and there is no record to support that finding. That claim was NOT tried by consent if tried at all! And Johnson's counsel acknowledged during argument before the Court of Appeals that the Arbitration Award makes no mention of such a claim. Finally, Johnson tries to raise for the first time that her defense of "failure to state a claim" somehow included

conclusion that the Court of Appeals came to, it is the correct application of the facts to the law and it is the correct application of the law.

As far as Johnson having the right to have brought a CR 12(b) motion without waiving her right to assert an affirmative defense in a later answer (See Johnson Br. P. 18), Filion doesn't dispute this and neither did the Court of Appeals. That simply did not occur in this case. Johnson didn't bring a CR 12(b) motion to dismiss prior to filing an answer. She filed an answer without the affirmative defense – then, and later with the assistance of counsel. Johnson is simply interpreting the Civil Rules and law wrong here. Her actions were not similar to any of the cases she cites.

And, even had Johnson pleaded the anti-SLAPP statute in her

Answer (or Amended Answer since she had filed that Answer with her
attorney but without the anti-SLAPP affirmative defense), the anti-SLAPP
statute was still correctly precluded by the trial court as a defense because
the anti-SLAPP legislation was never intended to apply to a purely private
dispute between recently divorced parties fighting over the language of
their divorce decree and attempting to use the anti-SLAPP statute as a

the anti-SLAPP affirmative defense. This novel argument should not be considered as not raised in the trial court below and otherwise, not encompassing the anti-SLAPP defense which Johnson has already acknowledged that she did not plead.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW (ESTATE OF FILION v. JOHNSON)
BY ESTATE OF FILION 12

malicious sword against one other. ^{10,11,12} In addition, the anti-SLAPP defense was never intended to apply, and does not apply, to completely bar malicious prosecution cases. ¹³ Were this not so, then not only would

In addition to the absence of a specific intent to do away with malicious prosecution actions (which would be the result Johnson seeks), the very case upon which Johnson relies, *Dang v. Ehredt*, 95 Wn. App. 670, 977 P.3d 29, *review denied*. 139 Wn.2d 1012 (1999), runs contrary to Johnson's position as it in turn cites and relies on California law – law which in turn specifically <u>excludes</u> malicious prosecution actions from anti-SLAPP immunity.

In reviewing RCW 4.24.510, the court of appeals in *Dang v. Ehredt* relied on *Devis v. Bank of America*, 65 Cal.App.4th 1002, 77 Cal.Rptr.2d

¹⁰ RCW 4.24.500 does not apply to matters that do not involve substantive issues of public concern.

In Right-Price Recreation v. Connells Prairie, the Washington State Supreme Court stated that "the anti-SLAPP statute applies when a communication to influence a governmental action results "in (a) a civil complaint or counterclaim (b) filed against nongovernment individuals or organizations . . . on (c) a substantive issue of some public interest or social significance." 146 Wn.2d 370, 382, 46 P.3d 789 (2002) (quoting George W. Pring & Penelope Canan, SLAPPS: Getting Sued For Speaking Out 8-9 (1996)).

¹² In *Hoffman v. Davenport-Metcalf*, the Rhode Island Supreme Court stated that it was not convinced that the provisions of its anti-SLAPP statute should apply to a private matter between tenants against their property manager and property management company. 851 A.2d 1083, 1088 (2004). (Court was not "persuaded that these are the types of activities that the Legislature intended to protect in enacting the law, and we decline to extend the purview of the anti-SLAPP statute to encompass these private causes of action and criminal complaints.").

¹³ Actions for malicious prosecution are not precluded by RCW 4.24.500-510 because there is no such specific intent in the legislation and the statute was never intended to do away with this common law action. See *Lumberman's of Washington, Inc. v. Barnhardt*, 89 Wash.App. 283, 286, 949 P.2d 382 (1997) (Statutes enacted in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed absent legislative intent to the contrary).

malicious prosecution cases stand the prospect of being forever barred, but divorcing parties would be free to make up (and file various) allegations against their estranged spouse (from restraining and protection orders to CPS and assault claims) because the defending spouse would have no recourse (in any proceeding) due to fear of the anti-SLAPP defense. The Parties would rush to file criminal or administrative charges against their estranged or former spouse or even Child Protective Services claims – all in an attempt to be the first to file and gain the protection of anti-SLAPP.

238 (1998) and *Hunsucker v. Sunnyvale Hilton Inn* 23 Cal.App.4th 1498, 28 Cal.Rptr.2d 722 (1994)¹³. Both *Hunsucker* and *Devis* in turn cite the California Supreme Court case, *Silberg v. Anderson*. 50 Cal.3d 205, 786 P.2d 365 (1990). In *Silberg*, the California Supreme Court made it clear that while the privilege afforded by the immunity statute is far reaching, barring tort actions based upon a protected communication, <u>it does not bar</u> malicious prosecution. *Id.* at 215-216. *Silberg* cited the reasoning of the California Supreme Court in *Albertson v. Raboff*, 46 Cal.2d 375 (1956), as to why malicious prosecution actions are not barred by the anti-SLAPP act. In *Albertson*, the court distinguished between actions for defamation and those for malicious prosecution.

[T]he fact that a communication may be absolutely privileged for the purposes of a defamation action does not prevent its being an element of an action for malicious prosecution in a proper case. The policy of encouraging free access to the courts that underlies the absolute privilege applicable in defamation actions is outweighed by the policy of affording redress for individual wrongs when the requirements of favorable termination, lack of probable cause, and malice are satisfied.

46 Cal.2d at 382. The Albertson court went on to write that "allegations that the action was prosecuted with knowledge of the falsity of the claim

In addition to addressing the failure to plead and the substance of Johnsons' wrongful assertion of the anti-SLAPP defense, were the Supreme Court to grant review over the objection of the Estate of Filion, then the estate would also respectfully request review of whether Johnson was an "aggrieved party" (as required by MAR 7.1 and RCW 7.06.050) since she didn't have any counterclaims or affirmative defenses and therefore had lacked standing to file for a trial De Novo. 14

V. CONCLUSION

In closing, what this case is NOT about is domestic violence. Johnson's brief tries to make this an issue as a last ditch method of trying to gain the Court's attention to a serious issue that was not at the center of the facts of this Appeal or Johnson's maliciousness or Johnson's failure to plead the anti-SLAPP statute. The Estate of Filion respectfully requests that the Court grant DENY the Petition for REVIEW and to put an end to a case that has been going on for more than 8 years.

are sufficient statement of lack of probable cause" in malicious prosecution actions. *Id.*

An aggrieved party is one whose proprietary, pecuniary, or personal rights are substantially affected. *Cooper v. City of Tacoma*, 47 Wash.App. 315, 316, 734 P.2d 541 (1987). Here there was no claim and no evidence presented of such rights being affected.